I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND DECISION BELOW 

The Petitioners are Richard Applegate and Karen Applegate, 

husband and wife. The Applegates seek review, pursuant to RAP 

13.4(b)(2), ofthe unpublished opinion ofthe Court of Appeals Division II, 

filed on June 24, 2014, Case no. 43043-6-II, in so far as it relates to the 

special verdict form presented to the jury at the conclusion of trial. A 

copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Appendix-A. (See Appendix-A 

at 9 and 11-12.) The Applegates timely requested reconsideration and 

publication (in part). The Court of Appeals denied the Applegates' motion 

for reconsideration and their motion for publication on August 5, 2014, by 

order attached hereto as Appendix-B. 

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by not following a prior 

decision of the Court of Appeals in Capers v. Bon Marche, 91 Wn. App. 

138, 955 P.2d 822 (1998), wherein the Court clearly indicated that a new 

trial is required when a special verdict form presented to a jury is 

misleading, undermines one parties' theory of the case, and contradicts an 

otherwise legally sufficient jury instruction. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. INTRODUCTION 

The Washington Supreme Court has yet to weigh in on the 

controlling conclusion of law decided by the Court of Appeals in Capers 

v. Bon Marche, 91 Wn. App. 138, 955 P.2d 822 (1998), i.e., that a new 
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trial is required when a special verdict form clearly and prejudicially 

conflicts with an otherwise legally sufficient jury instruction. Although in 

the case at Bar, the Court of Appeals was confronted with the exact issue 

that was presented in Capers, the Court of Appeals did not follow Capers. 

In fact, the Court of Appeals here reached the opposite conclusion without 

distinguishing this case from Capers, or citing applicable authority. This 

was error and warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). Granting review 

will give the Supreme Court an opportunity to make a clear 

pronouncement of the law on a very significant issue for Washington 

litigants and trial lawyers. 

B. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Petitioners Richard and Karen Applegate sued Respondent, 

Washington Federal Savings ("WFS") for failing to properly administer 

their progressive construction loan. The Applegates alleged that WFS 

breached the requirements of WFS' contract with the Applegates and 

WFS' own policies and procedures for the administration of progressive 

construction loans. 1 CP 5-7, 3 87-92. 

At trial, the Applegates presented an abundance of evidence that 

WFS failed to adhere to its contract requirements and its own policies and 

procedures for the administration of progressive construction loans. The 

1 The ''progressive" construction loan in this case required the general contractor to 
present proof of work-completion according to plans, specifications, and budget prior to 
WFS releasing "draws," or money borrowed by the Applegates for the purpose of 
funding the construction project. CP 285-90, 397-99, 451. 
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Applegates' theory of the case was that WFS undertook multiple 

obligations beyond simply providing a loan, which were not fulfilled to 

the Applegates' detriment. VRP 10/31111 at 425-29. WFS' theory of the 

case in defense to the Applegates' breach of contract claim was that WFS 

only agreed to provide a loan to the Applegates, and nothing more. VRP 

10/31111 at463. 

After a lengthy jury trial involving a number of other issues and 

other litigants, WFS proposed the following special verdict form for the 

jury to answer as its first interrogatory concerning the Applegates' breach 

of contract claim against WFS: "Did Washington Federal Savings 

("WFS") breach its contract to provide a construction loan to the 

Applegates?" CP 2739 (underline added). To preserve their theory ofthe 

case in closing, the Applegates objected to WFS' proposed language and 

requested that the special verdict form simply read: "Did Washington 

Federal Savings breach its contract with the Applegates?" VRP 10/31111 

at 393. The trial court (Hon. John R. Hickman) declined the Applegates' 

request and submitted WFS' proposed language to the jury, without 

explanation. /d. 

The special verdict form, as presented to the jury, forced the 

Applegates onto the defensive, requiring them to explain to the jury in 

closing why the verdict form did not really mean what it said. This 

undermined the Applegates' theory of the case and the credibility of their 

contract claim against WFS. The jury could have reasonably been 
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dismayed at hearing days of detailed testimony about WFS' policies and 

procedures for administration of construction loans, when all it really 

needed to decide, per the special verdict form, was whether WFS gave the 

Applegates a loan. However, whether WFS provided a construction loan 

to the Applegates was not at issue. 

The resulting prejudice to the Applegates was insurmountable. 

The special verdict form presented to the jury was misleading, and it 

precluded the Applegates from arguing their theory of the case. 

Moreover, the special verdict form created ambiguity in contrast to the 

jury instructions. Jury instruction no. 2, which was 2 Yz pages long, 

accurately stated in part: 

[P]laintiffs also claim that defendant Washington 
Federal breached its construction loan agreement 
with the Plaintiffs by failing to properly inspect the 
residence while it was under construction to make 
sure that amounts requested by the builder for 
building the Project were proper. 
CP 2699. 

According to the Court of Appeals absent any applicable authority, 

jury instruction no. 2 "resolved any ambiguity within WFS interrogatory 1 

by clarifying the interrogatory's meaning." Appendix at 11-12. However, 

rather than clarify ambiguity, the conflict between the interrogatory and 

the jury instruction created ambiguity. As explained below, the Court of 

Appeals' holding on this issue is in direct conflict with a prior decision of 

the Court of Appeals, Capers v. Bon Marche, 91. Wn. App. 138, 955 P.2d 

822 (1998). 
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IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

Review of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case, as it relates 

to the issue presented herein, should be granted because the decision is in 

direct conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 

13.4(b)(2). 

When the Court of Appeals declines to follow its own precedent, 

the Supreme Court should weigh in. It is especially important for the 

Supreme Court to rule on an important issue of law that could affect any 

jury trial in the state of Washington. Trial lawyers and litigants in 

Washington need some degree of certainty about the law regarding 

conflicts between jury instructions and special verdict forms, in order to 

make informed decisions and accurately assess the law. Given the 

outcome in this case, it is apparent that this certainty will only be assured 

ifthe Court of Appeals' decision in Capers v. Bon Marche, 91 Wn. App. 

138, 955 P.2d 822 (1998) is affirmed by the Supreme Court, and the case 

at Bar is reversed and remanded. 

In Capers, id., the plaintiff sued her employer for wrongful 

termination on the basis of race. After trial, the court's jury instructions 

properly stated that the plaintiff need only show by a preponderance of 

evidence that race was a "substantial factor" in the plaintiff's employment 

termination. However, the special verdict form did not include the 

"substantial factor" language and asked the jury to decide whether the 

employer terminated the plaintiff "because of' her race. The jury returned 
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a verdict in favor of the employer and the plaintiff appealed. 138 Wn. 

App. at 139-140, and 142. 

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court in Capers, because 

although the jury instructions were legally sufficient, per se, the language 

of the special verdict form and the related closing arguments were 

inconsistent and prejudicially misleading. /d. at 145; see also, id. at 143, 

citing, Lahmann v. Sisters of St. Francis, 55 Wn. App. 716, 723, 780 P.2d 

868 (1989) ("Notwithstanding the legal sufficiency of the instructions, we 

must find the instructions insufficient if they are misleading or if the 

special verdict form clouds the jury's vantage point of the contested 

issues.") 

Significantly, the Court of Appeals said in Capers that when read 

as a whole, the instructions and the special verdict form "must adequately 

present the contested issues to the jury in an unclouded, fair manner." 

Capers, 91 Wn. App. at 142 (citing, Lahmann, 55 Wn. App. at 723). 

Capers went on to indicate that where facial inconsistency between an 

otherwise correct (or, "legally sufficient") jury instruction and the special 

verdict form is manifest by inaccurate closing arguments that rely on the 

inconsistency, it is reversible error. Capers, 91 Wn. App. at 144-45. 

The case at Bar is directly analogous to Capers in that the "facial 

inconsistency between the correct instruction and the special verdict form 

was made manifest by the inaccurate closing arguments" of counsel for 

WFS. /d. at 144. Referring to the special verdict form, interrogatory no. 
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1, counsel assured the jury that WFS "did not breach its agreement to 

provide a construction loan to the Applegates. The one thing that we can 

be sure of in this case is that is exactly what Washington Federal did," i.e., 

WFS gave the Applegates a construction loan. VRP 10/31111 at 4 79. But, 

whether WFS gave the Applegates a construction loan was not an issue 

tried to the jury. 

It is difficult to understand how the jury could have possibly 

answered "yes" to the question posed in the special verdict form, a point 

that WFS was sure to emphasize in closing. !d. In essence, the jury was 

instructed that the Applegates were claiming WFS failed to properly 

administer the loan, but the special verdict form ultimately asked the jury 

to decide "yes or no," whether the Applegates received a loan. Despite 

the legal sufficiency of jury instruction no. 2,2 per se, the issue for the jury 

to decide was clouded by a special verdict form that contradicted the jury 

instruction and disavowed the Applegates' theory of their breach of 

contract case against WFS. 

In a terse analysis of this issue, the Court of Appeals cited the 

appropriate rule in Capers, 91 Wn. App. at 142,3 but then ignored the 

Capers analysis and reached a conclusion that contradicts Capers. Rather 

than follow Capers and without citing any applicable authority, the Court 

of Appeals held that jury instruction no. 2 "resolved any ambiguity within 

2 Supra at 4, see also, Appendix at 11. 

3 Appendix at 11. 

Page 7 of 11 



WFS interrogatory 1 by clarifying the interrogatory's meaning." Then, the 

Court of Appeals ruled that (1) the specific wording of the jm:y 

instructions was subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review,4 

citing Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 

(1996), and Singh v. Edwards Lifesciences Corp., 151 Wn. App. 137, 151, 

210 P.3d 337 (2009), and therefore (2) ''the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in deciding to word the legally sufficient WFS interrogatory 1 

as it did."5 Appendix at 12 (underline added). 

Neither Bodin, nor Singh, supra, dealt with any conflict, or 

contradiction between jury instructions and a special verdict form. Each 

of those cases dealt exclusively with the legal sufficiency of jury 

instructions, per se. The only case analogous to the case at Bar is Capers, 

yet the Court of Appeals did not address the analysis in Capers and 

reached the opposite conclusion. 

Despite the Applegates' request for publication on this issue, the 

Court of Appeals declined. Although this case is unpublished, in the age 

of the internet, the availability of the Court of Appeals' opinion here calls 

its ruling in Capers into question. Future litigants will inevitably be 

subject to uncertainty about the law m regard to conflicting jury 

instructions and special verdict forms. 

4 The wording of the jury instructions was not an issue on Appeal. 

5 This was a misnomer. It was not the interrogatory, but the instruction that was found to 
be legally sufficient. 
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WFS will likely answer this Petition for Review by arguing that 

even if the trial court's special verdict form was error, the error was 

harmless, because the jury also found that the builder at issue did not 

breach its contract. However, the responsibilities and remedies found 

within WFS' progressive construction loan agreement, including its 

policies and procedures for administration of progressive construction 

loans, is very different from the contract between the builder and the 

Applegates. 6 

As stated in the trial court's jury instruction no. 2, the builder 

claimed affirmative defenses totally unrelated to the Applegates' loan 

agreement with WFS. For instance, the builder's contract required 

notification and opportunity to cure prior to filing suit. The builder 

claimed, as an affirmative defense, that the Applegates failed to provide 

the required notice and opportunity to cure, among many other defenses 

unrelated to the Applegates' loan agreement. CP 2698-99. 

In contrast, WFS' contract assured that the Applegates' loan 

proceeds were to be used to fund the construction according to the 

building plans and specifications, and within budget. CP 285-88, 299-300, 

389, 397-99, 451. There was no requirement in WFS' contract, policies, 

or procedures that the Applegates' give the builder notice and an 

opportunity to cure, prior to filing suit. Also, the builder claimed that 

6 CP 274-83 and CP 285-90, 397-99. 
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lower quality materials were used in the construction than originally called 

for, resulting from "change orders" requested by the Applegates to save 

costs. This claim was denied by the Applegates, but WFS' policies stated 

that a reduction in the quality of building materials would not be allowed. 

Yet, WFS paid for reduced quality building materials. CP 397; see also, 

e.g., VRP 10/11/11 at 63-64. 

WFS was responsible to inspect the construction to ensure that 

work performed by the builder was completed as indicated on the 

builder's draw requests, prior to releasing the Applegates' loan proceeds. 

CP 397, 399. Yet, WFS routinely inspected the construction prior to 

receiving the builder's draw requests. CP 438-43.7 This was a contractual 

obligation of WFS, separate from the Applegates' contract with the 

builder. In essence, the builder's escape from liability due to the 

technicalities of its contract cannot excuse WFS from performing 

according to the terms of WFS' contract with the Applegates. 

V. CONCLUSION- RELEIF SOUGHT IF REVIEW IS GRANTED 

If review is granted, the Applegates will ask the Supreme Court to 

affirm Capers v. Bon Marche, 91 Wn. App. 138, 955 P.2d 822 (1998) and 

hold that where the language of a special verdict form confuses or 

7 For context, see CP 373. WFS could not have known whether items requested for 
payment by the builder had been installed per plans and specifications (or, at all), if WFS 
inspected the property prior receiving the builder's draw requests. This resulted in 
numerous instances where the quality and type of materials installed were inferior to, or 
different than materials that were supposed to be installed, in clear violation of WFS' 
policies and procedures for administration of progressive construction loans. CP 397. 
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contradicts otherwise legally sufficient jury instructions, a new trial is 

required. Affirming Capers will inevitably result in reversal of the trial 

court and the Court of Appeals in this case, and a new trial on the 

Applegates' breach of contract claim against WFS. 

It is imperative that litigants and trial attorneys in Washington can 

rely on clear precedent established by the Court of Appeals. When a 

Division of the Court of Appeals rules contrary to published authority, the 

Supreme Court needs to grant review, whether the Court of Appeals 

chooses to publish its opinion or not. Otherwise, the Court of Appeals can 

disregard binding precedent, by simply choosing not to publish its 

optruons. 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 4th day of September, 2014. 

Justl avid Bristol, WSBA no. 29820 
16 Hewitt Ave., Suite 305 
Everett, Washington 98201 
(425) 257-1133 
Attorney for Petitioners 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHIN
5--'Io!Y 

RICHARD APPLEGATE and KAREN 
APPLEGATE, husband and wife, 

DIVISION II 

Appellants/Cross-Respondents, 

v. 

WASHINGTON FEDERAL SAVINGS, a 
Savings and Loan· subsidiary of 
WASHINGTON FEDERAL, INC., a 
Washington Corporation; 

Respondent/Cross-Appellant, 

HARBOR HOME DESIGN, INC., a 
Washington Corporation; CHARLES 
BUCHER and JANE DOE BUCHER, 
husband and wife, and the marital 
community comprised thereof; . 

Respondents, 

KITSAP BANK, a Washington Financial 
Institution; OIDO CASUALTY INSURANCE 
CO., Bond No. 3620699; and AMERICAN 
INTERNATIONAL GROUP, INC., 
re Policy No. 06LX0093840897, 

Defendants. 
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No. 43043-6-II 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

WORSWICK, J.- Richard and Karen Applegate appeal from the trial court's orders 

following a jury verdict in favor of Washington Federal Savings (WFS) and Harbor Home 

Design (HHD). The Applegates also challenge the trial court's pre-trial ruling granting summary · 
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No. 43043-6-II 

judgment to WFS on their claims for negligence and breach of :fiduciary duty. WFS cross-

appeals, challenging the trial court's denial of its attorney fees request. 

The Applegates argue that the jury verdict was improper because (1) interrogatory 1 on 

the WFS special verdict form confused the jury as to the Applegates' breach of contract claim 

against WFS, (2) the trial court improperly excluded the Applegates' expert witness Robert 

Floberg for a discovery violation, and (3) the trial court improperly excluded the Appiegates' lay 

witness Diana Behrens under ER 404(b ). WFS argues that the trial court erroneously ruled that 

the contract's attorney fee provision did not apply to the defense of a breach of contract claim. 

Because the jury instructions were proper, and because the trial court did not err in 

excluding Floberg's or Diana's testimony, we affirm the jury verdict. Additionally, because the 

jury establi~hed as a fact that HHD committed no wrongdoing related to its dealings with the 

Applegates, we hold that whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment on the 

Applegates' negligence and breach of :fiduciary duty claims is a moot issue. Finally, because the 

custom construction loan contract's attorney fee provision entitles WFS to attorney fees as the 

prevailing party, we reverse the trial court's denial of attorney fees to WFS and remand for an 

award of attorney fees, limited to fees and costs incurred defending against the Appleg~tes' 

contract action. 

FACTS 

Richard and Karen Applegate sought to build a home. The Applegates took out a 

$550,000 mortgage with WFS to finance the home's construction and hired HHD to build it. 
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Charles Bucher was the president and sole employee ofHHD. 1 The Applegates signed a custom 

construction loan contract with WFS and a residential construction contract with HHD. 

A. The ApjJlegates' Contract with WFS 

1. Custom Construction Loan Contract 

Under the terms of the custom construction loan contract, WFS maintained control and 

possession of the construction loan principal throughout the home's construction, distributing it 

periodically as HHD completed work. 

Under the contract, WFS had the authority to distribute the construction loan principal 

directly to either the Apple gates or HHD, in the form of "draws" against the borrowed principal. 

WFS had written policies and procedures for the management of custom construction loans. The 

Applegates and HHD, but not WFS, signed a written statement, separate from the contract, 

detailing these procedures. The Applegates allege it was their understanding that WFS would 

follow these procedures. The written statement stated in part: 

Draws will be based on the percentage of completion per the submitted approved 
contract, plans, and specifications, [unless otherwise agreed] in writing. WFS 
will not advance any money for items not yet delivered and installed. WFS shall 
at all times have the right to enter upon the property during the period of 
construction work, and if the work is not satisfactory [WFS] shall have the right 
to stop the work and order its replacement, whether or not the unsatisfactory work 
has already been incorporated into the improvements. 
On-site inspections are typically completed between the 1st and 9th day of each 
month ....

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