RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Oct 01, 2014, 12:10 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90755-2 (Court of Appeals No. 43043-6-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

RICHARD APPLEGATE and KAREN APPLEGATE, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

vs.

WASHINGTON FEDERAL SAVINGS,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM PIERCE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT THE HONORABLE JOHN R. HICKMAN

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TODD & WAKEFIELD

By Scott C. Wakefield
 WSBA #11222

By Justin M. Monroe
 WSBA #35683
 Attorneys for Respondent
 Washington Federal Savings

Address: 1501 Fourth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 622-3585

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Washington Federal Savings (now known as Washington Federal) ("WFS"), by and through its undersigned counsel, respectfully requests this Court deny review of the unpublished June 24, 2014 Court of Appeals opinion in the matter of Applegate v. Washington Federal, Inc., et al., No. 43043-6-II. This decision correctly upheld the jury's verdict in favor of WFS and co-defendants Charles Bucher and Harbor Home Design, Inc., and is in accordance with Washington law.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter and upheld the jury's verdict in favor of WFS and the other defendants in this case. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals held that Question No. 1 on the special verdict form pertaining to the claims against WFS was legally sufficient, correctly worded and did not mislead the jury. Accordingly, review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not appropriate and the Supreme Court should deny review of this matter.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2007, petitioners Richard and Karen Applegate went to a loan broker to obtain financing for an expensive custom single family residence to be located in Gig Harbor, Washington. CP 272. The broker

placed the loan with WFS. On June 12, 2007, the petitioners signed a five page Construction Loan Agreement & Assignment of Account (Trial Exhibit No. 61) (hereinafter "loan agreement") and other documents to secure a \$550,000 loan from WFS for the construction of a custom single family residence. CP 3770-3774. The loan agreement authorized WFS to issue "draws" on the construction loan principal to either the Applegates or their builder, Harbor Home Design, Inc., as work on the house progressed, but expressly stated WFS had no obligation to insure or guarantee the quality of construction or the builder's compliance with building codes or standards. *Id.*

After various disputes during construction arose, petitioners sued their builder, Harbor Home Design, Inc. and its principal, Charles Bucher and his spouse (collectively referred to as "Bucher/HHD"), for breach of contract, fraud and wrongful conversion among other claims. Petitioners also sued WFS for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract. The petitioners' case against WFS alleged several causes of action based on allegations that WFS failed to detect and correct Bucher/HHD's alleged wrongdoing during construction. Before trial the court dismissed petitioners' claims for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty against WFS, but the claim for breach of contract

proceeded to trial. After a three week jury trial, the court provided instructions to the jury. Jury Instruction No. 2 stated in part:

In addition to the claims against [HHD], [the Applegates] also claim that [WFS] breached its construction loan agreement with the [Applegates] by failing to properly inspect the residence while it was under construction to make sure that amounts requested by [HHD] for building the home were proper.

CP at 2699.

In addition to Jury Instruction No. 2, the trial court also provided the jury with a special verdict form for claims against WFS. Question No. 1 of the special verdict form asked:

Did Washington Federal Savings ("WFS") breach its contract to provide a construction loan to the Applegates?

CP 2739.

The petitioners took exception to Question No. 1 and asked the court to revise it to read: "Did Washington Federal Savings breach its contract?" VRP (October 31, 2011) at 393. The trial court denied the petitioners' request and submitted Question No. 1 to the jury as quoted above. *Id.*

During his closing argument, counsel for petitioners spent a substantial portion of time explaining in detail his theory as to how WFS breached the loan agreement. VRP 10/31/11 at pp. 423-429; 481-485.

However, the properly instructed jury decided that neither Bucher/HHD nor WFS violated their respective contracts to build and finance the petitioners' residential construction project, and returned defense verdicts on all claims against both Bucher/HHD and WFS. CP 2733-2738 and 2739-2741.

Petitioners appealed the jury's verdict on a variety of grounds, including an argument that Question No. 1 of the special verdict form misled the jury. In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals disagreed, finding that when read in conjunction with Jury Instruction No. 2, the special verdict form was legally sufficient and allowed the petitioners to argue their case to the jury. Slip Opinion, Appendix A to Petition for Review (hereinafter "Slip Opinion") at pp. 11-12. The Court further held that the trial court's wording of the special verdict form was not manifestly unreasonable or an abuse of discretion. The Court of Appeals affirmed the jury's verdict in its entirety. Slip Opinion at p. 12.

IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

A. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2)

Petitioners seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(2), which states the Supreme Court will accept review only:

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioners argue the Court of Appeals failed to follow precedent set by *Capers v. Bon Marche*, 91 Wn. App. 138, 955 P.2d 822 (1998), but their argument is really just a disagreement with the Court of Appeals' decision to uphold the jury's verdict. Petitioners concede the Court of Appeals utilized the correct criteria from *Capers* in analyzing the special verdict form. But petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals misapplied that criteria when analyzing Question No. 1 on the special verdict form. But petitioners offer no support for this position.

The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the jury instructions, including the special verdict form, as a whole and correctly determined that, when viewed as a whole, they were legally sufficient. Once the Court made that determination, it correctly reviewed the wording of Question No. 1 on the special verdict form under the appropriate abuse of discretion standard. Finding no abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals upheld the jury's verdict in favor of WFS. Consequently, there is no basis for the Supreme Court to find that the Court of Appeals failed to follow the *Capers* criteria for analyzing jury instructions and/or a special verdict form. Accordingly, the petition for review should be denied.

B. THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IN THIS CASE AND CAPERS

Petitioners argue Supreme Court review is warranted because the Court of Appeals' decision in this case conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in *Capers v. Bon Marche*, 91 Wn. App. 138, 955 P.2d 822 (1998). Specifically, they argue the Court of Appeals applied the standard for reviewing jury instructions to review of the special verdict form. Petitioners claim a different standard of appellate review applies to special verdict forms. Petitioners are wrong. As stated in *Capers*, the standard for reviewing special verdict forms is the same as that applied to a review of jury instructions. *Capers* at 142 (citing Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc., 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995)). Thus, petitioners' argument that the Court of Appeals reviewed the special verdict form under the wrong standard is without merit and their petition for review should be denied.

The facts of *Capers* are clearly distinguishable from those in this matter. In *Capers*, the trial court provided the jury with a special verdict form that incorrectly stated the applicable law for deciding the plaintiff's racial discrimination claim against her former employer. *Id.* at 140. At issue was the dichotomy between the jury instruction which correctly stated the standard that the jury should use, and the special verdict form

which misstated the legal standard. After deliberations, the *Capers* jury found for the defendant and the plaintiff appealed, arguing the jury instructions were legally insufficient.

On review the *Capers* court correctly stated the three part test to determine the legal sufficiency of the jury instructions:

When reviewing jury instructions, they are considered in their entirety and are sufficient if they: (1) permit each party to argue his theory of the case; (2) are not misleading; and (3) when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law.

Id. at 142 (citing Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc., 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995) (citing Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 123 Wn.2d 15, 36, 864 P.2d 921 (1993); Farm Crop Energy, Inc. v. Old Nat'l Bank, 109 Wn.2d 923, 933, 750 P.2d 231 (1988)). The court noted that the same test applies to review of special verdict forms. Id.

After reviewing the jury instructions, including the special verdict form, as a whole, the *Capers* court determined the jury instructions were legally sufficient, but reversed the verdict because the legal standard set forth in the special verdict form directly contradicted the legal standard stated in the jury instructions. *Id.* at 144.

Here, unlike *Capers*, there is no allegation that the special verdict form misstated the applicable law. On appeal, the petitioners contended that the wording of the special verdict form misled the jury so as to warrant a retrial. Slip Opinion at 11. The Court of Appeals engaged in the correct analysis by first reviewing the jury instructions and special verdict form under the three part test cited in *Capers*. The Court found the instructions and special verdict form did not mislead the jury, allowed the petitioners to argue their theory of the case and properly informed the jury of the applicable law when read as a whole. *Id.* at 12. Thus, the Court found the instructions and by extension the special verdict form were legally sufficient. *Id.*

After determining the instructions and special verdict form were legally sufficient, the Court then reviewed the wording of the special verdict form, which was the basis for petitioners' claim of error. Citing Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 (1996) and Singh v. Edwards Lifesciences Corp., 151 Wn. App. 137, 151, 210 P.3d 337 (2009), the Court of Appeals in this case correctly reviewed the wording of the special verdict form for abuse of discretion. It found no abuse of discretion. Slip Opinion at p. 12.

The petitioners contend this holding was incorrect. In their request for Supreme Court review, they argue the Court of Appeals improperly applied the abuse of discretion standard to the wording of Question No. 1 on the special verdict form because *Bodin* and *Singh* apply to jury instructions, not special verdict forms. Petition for Review at 8. Petitioners are again incorrect. Special verdict forms are part of the jury instructions and as stated in *Capers*, they are reviewed under the same standards as jury instructions. *Capers* at 142, *supra*. Thus, like jury instructions, the specific wording of a special verdict form is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Slip Opinion at 11.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the abuse of discretion standard when reviewing the wording of Question No. 1 on the special verdict form at issue in this case. Unlike *Capers*, Question No. 1 on the special verdict form in this case did not conflict with the other jury instructions, nor did it misstate the law. Any appeal of jury instructions is fact specific. The simple fact that the Court of Appeals did not agree with petitioners' theory that Question No. 1 on the special verdict form was erroneous, does not mean that the Court of Appeals "ignored" *Capers*. It simply means that there was no error when the *Capers* criteria was applied to Question No. 1 on this special verdict form.

Petitioners have failed to make any showing that the Court of Appeals deviated from Washington law concerning the standards for appellate review of jury instructions/special verdict forms. The Court of Appeals' decision is completely consistent with the *Capers* decision and was a correct application of Washington law to the issues presented. Supreme Court review of this case is not appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and the petition for review should be denied.

C. EVEN IF QUESTION NO. 1 ON THE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM WAS NOT PROPERLY WORDED, THE ERROR WAS HARMLESS AND THE ISSUE IS MOOT BECAUSE THE JURY RETURNED DEFENSE VERDICTS ON ALL CLAIMS AGAINST CO-DEFENDANTS BUCHER/HHD AND PETITIONERS HAVE NOT SOUGHT REVIEW OF THE VERDICT AS TO THEIR CLAIMS AGAINST BUCHER/HHD

Even assuming arguendo that the special verdict form did conflict with other instructions, impeded petitioners from arguing their theory of the case as to WFS, misstated the law and/or misled or confused the jury, the error is harmless, because it is a moot point given the current posture of the case. The entire thrust of the petitioners' theory against WFS at the superior court trial was that, while WFS did provide loan funds to finance petitioners' project in a timely and appropriate manner, WFS neglected to discover and correct various contract breaches and other acts of misfeasance or malfeasance by the

contractor, co-defendants Bucher/HHD. (VRP 423-429; 481-485; CP 2699.)

But the jury returned a defense verdict on each and every one of the seven claims asserted against Bucher/HHD that were presented for their consideration. (CP 2733-2738.) The Court of Appeals affirmed the jury's verdict as to Bucher/HHD in its entirety, and petitioners have not sought review of the Court of Appeals' decision as to Bucher/HHD by this Court.

So how was WFS supposed to discover and correct breaches of contract by Bucher/HHD that the jury found did not occur? How was WFS supposed to discover and prevent Bucher/HHD's conversion of funds that the jury also found never happened? How was WFS supposed to discover and prevent fraud by Bucher/HHD where the jury determined no fraud was ever committed by Bucher/HHD? How was WFS supposed to prevent a forgery by Bucher/HHD that the jury concluded never took place? These are not simply rhetorical questions. The jury found that Bucher/HHD engaged in no actionable misconduct in performing work on the petitioners' residential construction project. Those factual findings are supported by substantial evidence and are

verities on appeal that cannot be challenged because petitioners have not sought review of the jury's verdict as to Bucher/HHD by this Court.

So even if the wording of Question No. 1 on the special verdict form was deficient in some way, it does not matter. The point is moot. There was no harm to petitioners that was proximately caused by WFS' alleged "failure" to discover and correct purported contractual deficiencies and other misconduct by Bucher/HHD that the jury found never occurred in the first place. As the Court of Appeals noted in its well-reasoned analysis of this issue:

The Applegates argue that the trial court erred by granting summary judgment to WFS on their claims of negligence and breach of fiduciary duty. We do not review this issue because it is moot.

"A moot case is one which seeks to determine an abstract question which does not rest upon existing facts or rights." State v. G.A.H., 133 Wn. App. 567, 572, 137 P.3d 66 (2006) quoting Hansen v. W. Coast Wholesale Drug Co., 47 Wn.2d 825, 827, 289 P.2d 718 (1955)). We will not review a moot case unless it presents issues of continuing and substantial public interest, considering (1) the public or private nature of the issue presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination which will provide future guidance to public officers, and (3) the likelihood that the question will recur. In re Marriage of Horner, 151 Wn.2d 884, 891-92, 93 P.3d 124 (2004).

The jury is the trier of fact. Jurgens v. Am. Legion, Cashmere Post 64 Inc., 1 Wn. App. 39, 43, 459 P.2d 79 (1969). Here, we uphold the jury's defense verdicts. Through a special verdict form, the jury determined that

HHD did not breach its contract with the Applegates, commit fraud in respect to the draws and billings submitted to the Applegates, or wrongfully convert the Applegates' funds. Thus, the jury has established as a fact that HHD did not commit any wrongdoing related to its dealings with the Applegates.

The Applegates' claims for negligence and breach of fiduciary duty assert that WFS failed to prevent HHD's wrongdoing. The jury established as a fact that HHD committed no wrongdoing. WFS cannot have failed to properly protect the Applegates from HHD's wrongdoing when HHD committed no wrongdoing. Thus, whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of WFS on these claims is an abstract question that does not rest upon existing facts or rights.

This moot issue does not present issues of continuing and substantial public interest because the issue is essentially private in nature, a determination is not necessary to provide guidance to public officers, and the particular issue raised is unlikely to recur.

Slip Opinion at pp. 18-19. There is no reason for this Court to review a moot issue. The petition for review of this matter should, accordingly, be denied.

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